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TOPIX TOPIX ( )
TOPIX
TOPIX
TOPIX
FTSE Source: London Stock Exchange Group plc and its group undertakings (collectively,

the “ LSE Group” ). © LSE Group 2019. FTSE is a trading name of certain of the LSE
Group companies. “ FTSE®” is a trade mark of the relevant LSE Group companies and
is used by any other LSE Group company under license. All rights in the FTSE
indexes or data vest in the relevant LSE Group company which owns the index or the
data. Neither LSE Group nor its licensors accept any liability for any errors or
omissions in the indexes or data and no party may rely on any indexes or data
contained in this communication. No further distribution of data from the LSE Group
is permitted without the relevant LSE Group company’ s express written consent. The
LSE Group does not promote, sponsor or endorse the content of this communication.

LSE
OLSE Group 2019 FTSE LSE 1 FTSE®
LSE LSE
FTSE
LSE LSE
LSE
LSE
S&P S&P
S&P
FTSE FTSE FTSE FTSE
FTSE Fixed Income LLC
FTSE FTSE Fixed Income LLC
FTSE Fixed Income LLC
FTSE

FTSE Fixed Income LLC
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2020
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CCMF Limited
505,450 68,031,552 134.60 75,670,920 149.71 99.68
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97.86
2.14
100.00
97.86
2.14
100.00
()
97.86
2.14
100.00
10
1 Hong Kong Exchanges & Clearing Ltd (HKSE) 9.62
2 China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrs 9.45
3 China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 9.07
4 Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 7.37
5 China Lesso Group Holdings Ltd 6.53
6 CITIC Securities Co Ltd H Shrs 6.23
7 Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 6.21
8 China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 5.59
9 Weichai Power Co Ltd H Shrs 5.49
10 Bank Of Communications Co Ltd H Shrs 4.98
D
2)
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385,014 41,146 307.24 32,835
2010 12 31
362,996 38,793 274.06 29,289
2011 12 31
156,604 16,736 16.54 33,829
2012 12 31 316.5
113,358 12,115 7.52 36,071
2013 12 31 337.5
10
92,972 9,936 378.30 40,429
2014 12 31
11
84,906 9,074 369.38 39,476
2015 12 31
12
52,679 5,630 380.60 40,675
2016 12 31
13
78,410 8,380 477.41 51,021
2017 12 31
14
58,923 6,297 394.28 42,137
2018 12 31
15
89,642 9,580 430.39 45,996
2019 12 31
2019 76,808 8,208 406.93 43,489
92,978 9,937 429.18 45,866
90,925 9,717 419.70 44,853
83,296 8,902 384.49 41,090
83,806 8,956 390.45 41,727
10 85,447 9,132 398.09 42,544
11 84,501 9,031 393.68 42,073
12 89,642 9,580 430.39 45,996
2020 81,518 8,712 391.38 41,827
81,717 8,733 398.66 42,605
74,396 7,951 362.94 38,787
75,912 8,113 370.33 39,577
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14 2018 2018 12 31 17.41
15 2019 2019 12 31 9.16
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10 )

2010 268,700 216,300 1,253,143

2010 12 31 268,700 216,300 1,235,300

2011 212,848 141,500 1,324,491

2011 12 31 210,700 141,500 1,304,500

2012 2,000 831,750 494,741

2012 12 31 1,500 831,750 474,250

2013 25,120 184,000 335,861

2013 12 31 18,100 184,000 308,350
10

2014 2,600 92,700 245,761

2014 12 31 2,600 92,200 218,750
11

2015 15,200 31,100 229,861

2015 12 31 15,200 30,800 203,150
12

2016 2,800 94,250 138,411

2016 12 31 2,800 94,250 111,700
13

2017 36,929 11,100 164,240

2017 12 31 0 10,100 101,600
14

2018 1,207 16,000 149,447

2018 12 31 0 16,000 85,600
15

2019 74,590 15,755 208,282

2019 12 31 0 3,500 82,100

(

)
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
CCMF
2019 69,323,674
2018 43,364,839 89,349,619 9,548,794 58,606,453 6,263,272
15 2 127 14
16,444 1,757 142,898 15,272
3,122,460 333,697
250,000 26,718
92,488,538 9,884,250 58,999,478 6,305,274
31,550 3,372 31,100 3,324
4 78,523 8,392 45,044 4,814
5 2,736,659 292,467
2,846,732 304,230 76,144 8,138
89,641,806 9,580,020 58,923,334 6,297,137
5 208,282 149,447
10 430.39 45,996 394.28 42,137
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2019 12 31
2019 2018

3,406,438 364,046 2,346,331 250,752
(256,327) (27,394) (160, 326) (17,134)

12,177 1,301 832 89
(306,516) (32,757) (305,257) (32,623)

2,855,772 305,196 1,881,580 201,084
4 (812,310) (86,812) (700,743) (74,888)
(53,325) (5.699) (51,104) (5.461)
4 (12,000) (1,282) (12,000) (1,282)
(9,880) (1,056) (21,286) (2,275)

2,609 279 2,437 260

(884,906) (94,570) (782,696) (83,647)

1,970,866 210,626 1,098,884 117,438

(977,885) (104,507) 1,469,536 157,049

)

4,492,426 480,106 (15,226,269)  (1,627,231)

(21,592) (2,308) (22,182) (2,371)

3,492,949 373,291 (13,778,915)  (1,472,553)

N ®) @ ®

7N ®) 74 ®
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5,463,758 583,912 (12,680,105) (1,355,123)
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2019 12 31

2019 2018
2,855,772 305,196 1,881,580 201,084
(884,906) (94,570) (782,696) (83,647)
N ®) @4 ®
3,492,949 373,291  (13,778,915)  (1,472,553)
5,463,758 583,912  (12,680,105)  (1,355,123)
5 31,964,731 3,416,071 550,000 58,779
5 (6,710,017) (717,100)  (7,356,481) (786,187)
25,254,714 2,698,971  (6,806,481) (727,409)
30,718,472 3,282,883  (19,486,586)  (2,082,531)
58,923,334 6,297,137 78,409,920 8,379,668
89,641,806 9,580,020 58,923,334 6,297,137
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2019 12 31
2019 2018

5,463,758 583,912  (12,680,105) (1,355,123)
(30,743,166) (3,285,522) 20,808,305 2,223,784
(3.122,460) (333,697) 610,520 65,246

112 12 122) (13)

450 48 4,500 481

33,479 3,578 (18,534) (1,981)

(1,072,191)  (114,585)

(28,367,827) (3,031,670) 7,652,373 817,809

5 32,214,731 3,442,788 300,000 32,061
5 (3,973,358) (424,633)  (7,833,871)  (837,206)
28,241,373 3,018,156  (7,533,871)  (805,145)
(126,454) (13,514) 118,502 12,664

142,898 15,272 24,396 2,607

16,444 1,757 142,898 15,272
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2004 10 5
2004 10 29
100 2006 1 25
2009 6 1
2011 12 15
CCMF
2017 10 6
HSBC
2019 12 31
100% 2018

100%

2.
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2016 11 FASB

ASU

2018 8 FASB
AS

FASB

FASB ASC 825

SB ASU 2016-

ASU 2016-01

ASU 2016-18

2018 12 16

U 2018-13

ASU
2019 12 16
ASU

01
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825-10
ASU
2018 12 16
2019 12
2019 12 16
ASU
ASU 2019 12 31
820
ASU 2018-13
ASU
2019 12 31
ASC 946
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US GAAP

3.

4.
2019 12 31
2019 12 31
2019 12 31
12,000

10

78,523 2018

100

2019 12 31

812,310
45,044

1,000
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14
10
31,964,731 2018
1,207 6,710,017
2018 16,000
2019 12 31
2,736,659

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

100
2019 2018
149,447 164,240
74,590 1,207
(15,755) (16,000)
58,835 (14,793)
208,282 149,447
550,000 74,590 2018
2018 7,356,481 15,755
2018 250,000
2018
2019 2018
250,000
31,964,731 550,000
(250,000)
32,214,731 300,000
2019 2018
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6,710,017 7,356,481
(2,736,659)
3,973,358 7,833,871
6.
2004 10 5 50
ASC 740
2004 2018
2019 12 31
2019 12 31
2018
7.
2019 2018 12 31
2019 12 31
2018
8.
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10.
2019 12 31
2019 2018
394.28 477.41
« )

(4.45) (5.06)

« ) 40.56 (78.07)

« ) 36.11 (83.13)

430.39 394.28

9.16% (17.41%)

0.00% 0.00%

9.16% (17.41%)

1.10% 1.12%

0.00% 0.00%

1.10% 1.12%

(1.10%) (1.12%)

11.

FASB ASC 855 2020 3 27

2020 1 1 1,291,554 3,300

2020 COVID-19

COVID-19
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
2019 :97,204,532
2018 :70,036,525 ) 7 89,519,255 9,566,923 57,858,822 6,183,372
10 1 84 9
974,640 104,160 754,847 80,670
2,009,032 214,705
18,334 1,959 38,917 4,159
92,521,271 9,887,748 58,652,670 6,268,211
49,192 5,257 46,217 4,939
3,122,460 333,697
3,171,652 338,954 46,217 4,939
89,349,619 9,548,794 58,606,453 6,263,272
5 515,050 373,000
11 173.48 18,540 157.12 16,791

61/207



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 12 31
2019 2018

3,406,438 364,046 2,346,331 250,752
6 (256,327) (27,394) (160,326) (17,134)
12,177 1,301 832 89

3,162,288 337,954 2,186,837 233,707

4 181,978 19,448 169,842 18,151
23,098 2,468 20,779 2,221

32,960 3,522 33,905 3,623

4 3,040 325 3,580 383
25 3 10,211 1,001

4 38,333 4,097 40,086 4,284
27,082 2,894 26,854 2,870

306,516 32,757 305,257 32,623

2,855,772 305,196 1,881,580 201,084

(977,885) (104,507) 1,469,536 157,049

4,492,426 480,106  (15,226,269)  (1,627,231)

(21,592) (2,308) (22,182) (2,371)

3,492,949 373,291  (13,778,915)  (1,472,553)

6,348,721 678,488  (11,897,335)  (1,271,468)
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
2,855,772 305,196 1,881,580 201,084
(977,885) (104,507) 1,469,536 157,049
4,492,426 480,106  (15,226,269)  (1,627,231)
(21,592) (2,308) (22,182) (2,371)
6,348,721 678,488  (11,897,335)  (1,271,468)
31,540,960 3,370,782
(7.,146,515) (763,748)  (8,910,970) (952,315)
24,394,445 2,607,034 (8,910,970) (952,315)
30,743,166 3,285,522  (20,808,305)  (2,223,784)
58,606,453 6,263,272 79,414,758 8,487,055
89,349,619 9,548,794 58,606,453 6,263,272
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
6,348,721 678,488  (11,897,335)  (1,271,468)
(33,606,724) (3,591,551)  (13,687,650)  (1,462,799)
5,460,832 583,599 18,372,852 1,963,507
977,885 104,507 (1,469,536) (157,049)
(4,492,426) (480,106) 15,226,269 1,627,231
(2,009,032) (214,705)
74 8 (59) (6)
20,583 2,200 49,471 5,287
2,975 318 (2,285) (244)
(27,297,112) (2,917,242) 6,591,727 704,458
5 31,540,960 3,370,782
5 (4,024,055) (430,051)  (9,521,490)  (1,017,562)
27,516,905 2,940,732 (9,521,490)  (1,017,562)
219,793 23,489 (2,929,763) (313,104)
754,847 80,670 3,684,610 393,774
974,640 104,160 754,847 80,670
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2019 12 31
1.
2011 11 24
2011 12 15
2.
US GAAP
2016 1 5 FASB ASU 2016-01 825-
10
ASU
ASU 2016-01 2018
12 16 ASU 2019 12 31
2016 11 FASB ASU 2016-18
ASU 2018 12 16 2019 12 16

ASU
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FASB ASC 946
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2019 12 31

HSBC

2019 10 31

2019 11 1

100

250

50
50

100
150

2018

0.250
0.225
0.200

0.150
0.125
0.100
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2,500
2019 11 1 6,500
2019 12 31 181,978 2018 169,842
2019 12 31 11,782 2018 11,077
2019 12 31 3,040 2018 3,580
2019 12 31 160 2018 140
5.
2019 12 31 2018 12 31 50,000 1.00

100 0.001 49,900,000
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2018
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2011 12 14
2019 2018
100 100
373,000 421,484
184,000
(41,950) (48,484)
142,050 (48,484)
515,050 373,000
2018 184,000 2018
7,146,515 2018 8,910,970 41,950
3,122,460
2019 2018
31,540,960
31,540,960
2019 2018
610,520
7,146,515 8,910,970
(3,122,460)
4,024,055 9,521,490
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ASC 820

2019 12

31
89,519,255 89,519,255 — —
89,519,255 89,519,255 — —
2018 12

31
57,858,822 57,858,822 — —
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57,858,822

57,858,822

2018
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
11.
2019 12 31
2019 2018
157.12 188.42
« D
5.77 4.85
« ) 10.59 (36.15)
16.36 (31.30)
173.48 157.12
« ) 10.41% (16.61%)

0.70% 0.66%
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0.70% 0.66%
3.55% 2.69%
2020 3 27
2020 1 1 1,515,456 9,600
COVID-19
CoviD-19
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2019 12 31

5,408,350 6.05
362,378 0.41
4,986,431 5.58
3,803,161 4.26
4,803,022 5.38
118,134 0.13
29,127,061 32.60
1,935,732 2.17
901,277 1.01
2,680,620 3.00
5,667,701 6.34
8,102,470 9.07
318,419 0.36
321,264 0.36
820,635 0.92
2,370,743 2.65
128,504 0.14
1,465,193 1.64
2,450,464 2.74
1,482,370 1.66
9,322,486 10.43
822,145 0.92
574,793 0.64
1,415,685 1.58
130,217 0.15

97,204,532 89,519,255 100.19
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China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 5,201,830 7,858,000 5,408,350 6.05
Weichai Power Co Ltd H Shrs 2,630,538 2,409,000 4,986,431 5.58
China Lesso Group Holdings Ltd Shrs 2,535,416 3,574,000 4,566,313 5.11
Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 9,168,060 17,200,000 7,420,885 8.31
China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 8,169,942 10,158,393 8,804,745 9.85
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrs 8,037,120 11,351,280 8,628,882 9.66
CITIC Securities Co Ltd H Shrs 5,383,841 2,444,000 5,667,701 6.34
Hong Kong Exchanges & Clearing Ltd (HKSE) 6,046,053 246,292 8,102,470 9.07

Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7,721,433 7,829,556 6,605,269 7.39
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2018 12 31

2,350,084 4.01
1,666,456 2.84
1,920,470 3.28
128,314 0.22
3,894,810 6.65
2,046,183 3.49
201,025 0.34
15,459,326 26.38
1,594,349 2.72
1,352,299 2.31
201,881 0.34
3,310,922 5.65
1,829,229 3.12
5,803,672 9.90
477,592 0.81
516,320 0.88
603,671 1.03
2,629,096 4.49
420,523 0.72
1,943,971 3.32
1,139,888 1.94
759,670 1.30
4,724,260 8.06
804,008 1.37
604,688 1.03
790,950 1.35
685,165 1.17
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70,036,525 57,858,822 98.72

70,036,525 57,858,822 98.72
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China Communications Construction Co Ltd H

Shrs 3,901,427 3,879,000 3,654,972 6.24
Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 6,994,814 12,000,000 5,117,238 8.73
China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 5,248,814 6,661,393 5,409,163 9.23
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrs 4,958,365 7,235,280 4,932,925 8.42

Hong Kong Exchanges & Clearing Ltd (HKSE) 4,335,327 201,849 5,803,673 9.90
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2019

Notes 2019 2018
Uss Ust
Assets
Investments m CCMF Linuted {“MMaster Fund™), at fair valoe
{Cost 2019: US$69,323,674; 2018: US$43 364,830) 80349619 58,606,453
Interest receivable 13 127
Cash and cash equivalents 16,444 142 898
Amounts due from Master Fund 3,122 460 -
Subscriptions receivable - 250,000
Total assets 02,488 538 38,999 478
Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 31,530 31,100
Management fee payable 4 78523 45,044
Redemptions payable 5 2,736,659 -
Total liabilities 2,846,732 76,144
Net assets 89,641 206 38923334
Number of umits cutstanding 5 208,282 149 447
et asset value per unit 10 430.39 39428

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an mtegral part of these fimancial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31, 2019

Note 2019 2018
Uss Uss
Net investment income allocated from the Master Fund
Dividend meome 3406438 2346331
Withholding tax expenze (256327 ( 160,328)
Other income 12,177 832
Orther expenses {  306.516) ( 305257
2,855,772 1,881,580
Trust’s net investment loss
Management fee 4 {  B12310) ( 700,743)
Lepal and professional faes ( 53,325 (51104
Fegistrar's and administration fees 4 ( 12.000) (12,000
Other expenses ( 08800 ( 21,286)
(Other income 2.609 2437
{  884.908) { 782,606)
MNet investment income 1.970_ 866 1.09% 884

Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on investments
and exchange differences allocated from the Master Fund

Net realised (losses)/gains on sale of mvestments { 977885 1,469 536
Net change in unrealised gains/(Josses) on investments during the year 4492 426 (15,226,269)
Exchange losses { 21,593) (22181
3492949 (13,778,915)
Trust’'s realised and unrealized lozses on investments
and exchange differences
Exchange losses { 57) { 74
( 37) { )
Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) from
investments and foreign currency transactions 3,492 892 (13,778,989)
Wet increase/{decrease) in net assets resulting from operations 5,463,738 (12.680.103)

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an mtegral part of these fimancial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended December 31, 2019

Note 2019 2018
Uss Ust
Changes in net assets resulting from operations
Net mvestment mcome allocated from the Master Fund 2855772 1,BE1 580
Trust’s net investment loss { 884.008) {  TE2.696)
Trust’s net exchange losses { 3N { 74)
Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on investments
and exchange differences allocated from the Master Fund 3,492 949 (13,778,913)
Net increase/{decrease) in net assets resulting from operations 5,463,758 (12,680,105)
Change in net assets resulting from capital share transactions
Unit subscriptions 5 31,964,731 550,000
Unit redemptions 5 i 6,710,017) ([ 7,356,481)
Net increase/{decrease) in net assets resulting
from capital transactions 25254714 ( 6,806,481)
Met increase/{decrease) in net assets 30718472 (19,486, 586)
Net assets at beginning of year 58,023,334 78,400,920
Net assets at end of year 29 641 806 58923334

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets resnlting from operations
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Met (increase)/decrease in imvestment in the Master Fund
{Increase)/decrease m redemptions receivable
Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable
Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in management fee payable
{Decrease)/increase in performance fees payable

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issnance of units

Payment for redemption of units

Net cash flows generated from/{used in) financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

MNote

i A
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2019 2018

Uss USE
5.463.758 (12,680,105)
(30.743,166) 20,808,305
(3.122.460) 610,520
112 ( 122)

450 4,500

33.479 ( 18,534)

_ ( 1,072,191)
(28.367.827) 7,652,373
32.214.731 300,000
( 3973358)  ( 7.833.87D)
28241373 ( 7.533,871)
( 126454) 118,502
142,898 24,396
16.444 142,898

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

| Organisation

Cape China Fund (the “Trust”) was registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Law and
established under the laws of the Cayman Islands and constituted by a Trust Deed (the “Deed™) dated
October 5, 2004 made between the Bank of Bermmda (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee™) as Tmstee and
Cape Asset Management Limited as Manager. The Trust only issues one class of units.

The Trust commenced operations on October 29, 2004 Its investment objective 1 to maxinnse capital
gains principally by identifying and acquiring equity securities of companies that have growth potential
and which operate m, carry on a business in or derive revenue from or are lecated m the Greater China
Region mehiding Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau of People’s Republic of China and Tarwan.

Unless terminated earlier, the Trust will be terminated one hundred years after the date of the Deed. The
Trust changed its name from Seven China Equity Fund to Cape China Fund on January 25, 2006. Seven
Asset Management (Asia) Linited retired as the Manager. and on June 1, 2009 Cape Asset Management
Linuted was appointed as the Manager.

The Trust was established as a stand-alone fund and converted into a “feeder” fund in a “master feeder”
fiund structure on December 15, 2011. The master fimd 15 CCMF Limated (the “Master Fund™), a Cayman
Islands exempted company. The Trust invests all or substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund
which shares the same investment objective and strategy as the Trust. The restmcturing took effect by
transferring all of the Trust's underlying investments and cash to the Master Fund in exchange for the
participating shares of the Master Fund.

Effective from October 6, 2017, Bank of Bermmda (Cayman) Limited (the “Retiring Trustee™) was retired
and HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited was appointed as the trustee (the “Trustee™) of the Trust on the
zame date.

The Master Fund is managed by Cape Asset Management Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited ligbality. The Master Fund will accept subscriptions from the Trost as well as other parallel

feeder fimds or vehicles established by the Manager from time to time. At 31 December 2019, the Trust’s
investment in the Master Fund represents 100%: (2018: 100%) of the net assets of the Master Fund.

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Trust’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“US. GAAP”) and are stated in United States Diollars, which
15 also the functional currency. Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
current year's presentation. The following is a summary of the significant accounting and reporting
policies used in prepanng the financial statements:
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Accounting and Regulatory Development

On Jamary 5, 2016, the FASE issued ASU 2016-01, Fmancial Instruments — Owerall (Subtopic 823-10):
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. The update mtends to
enhance the reporting model for financial instruments to provide users of financial mstruments with more
decision-useful information and addresses certain aspects of the recognition, measurement, presentation,
and disclosure of financial mstruments. The ASU will also address measurement of credit losses on
finanecial assets. AST 2016-01 is effective for entities other than public business entities, for fiseal years
beginning after December 153, 2018. This new AST has been adopted duning the year ended December
2019 and has no impact on the Trust’s financial position and financial performance.

In November 2016, FASB issued the ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows. The amendments apply to
all entities that have restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents and are required to present a statement
of cash flows. This update requires that a statement of cash flows explamn the change during the peried m
the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amomts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash
equivalents. Therefore, amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents
should be mcluded with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of- period and end-
of-peniod total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The update does not provide a defimtion
of restricted cash or restnicted cash equivalents. This ASU is effective for the Fund's fiscal years
beginning after December 13, 2018, and interim periods within fiscal vears beginning after December 15,
2019. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The ASU should be applied
using a retrospective transition method to each period presented. This ASU has been adopted during the
vear ended December 31, 2019 and does not have an impact on the Fund's financial statements in the
Curment year.

In Angust 2018, the FASB issned the AST 2018-13, Fair Value Measurements (Topic 820): Disclosura
Framework - Changes fo the Disclosure Reguirements for Fair Value Measurement, to streamline
disclosure requirements while continuing to provide useful information for financial statement users. For
non-public entities, ASTI 2018-13 eliminates disclosures for policy of timing of transfers, valnation
process for Level 3 fair value measurements and the changes mn unrealized gains and losses included m
for Level 3 investments held at the end of the reporting period. The ASU also amends disclosure
requirements for the Level 3 roll forward. All other changes implemented by the ASU are applicable to
public companies only. The guidance is effective for financial statements with fiscal years beginning after
December 13, 2019. Early adoption is permitted This new ASU is not expected to have an impact on the
Trust’s financial pesition and financial performance.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents meclnde amounts due from banks on demand No restricted 1s cash held by
Fund as at December 31, 2019,
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment Company

The Trost meets the definifion of an investment company within Accounting Standard Codification
(“ASC™) Topic 946, “Financial Services — Investment Companies ", issued by FASB, and applies the
accounting and reporting guidance in this Topic to its financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value of the Trust’s assets and hiabilittes which quahfy as financial mstroments under FASB ASC
225, “Financial Instruments ", approximates the carrying amounts presented in the financial statements.

Investment Valuation

The Trust’s nvestment in the Master Fund 1s valued at fair value, which 1s the Trust’s proportionate
mferest in the net assets of the respective share class in the Master Fund The performance of the Trust is
directly affected by the performance of the Master Fund. The Trust records any change in value in the
statement of operations by recording its proportionate share of the Master Fund's income, expenses,
realised and unrealised gain/losses. In addition, the Trost acerues its own meome and expenses. The Trust
mvests m the Master Fund and the Trust’s mvestment policy 1s same as the investment policy of the
Master Fund. Since the operating activities of the Trust are conducted through its mvestment in the Master
Fund, the financial statements of the Master Fund are an integral part of these financial statements and
should be read in conjunction with those of the Trust. The Master Fund's financial statements are therefore
attached.

Foreign Currency Translation

Aszzets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the date of the statement of assets and liabilities. Transactions m foreign currencies are translated at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Exchange gains or losses, both realised and
mnrealised, are included in the statement of operations.

The Trust does not isclate that porfion of gains and losses on investments which 15 due to changes m
foreign exchange rates from that which iz due to changes m market prices of the investments. Such
fluctnations are included with the net realised and unrealised gams and losses from imvestments.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformuty with U.S. GAAP may require management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. Related Party Transactions
The Trust 1s managed by the Manager, a company meorporated in Hong Kong with linnited liability. The
Manager is responsible, subject to the policies, controls and approval of the Trustee, for the mvestment

of the Trust’s assets in accordance with the mvestment objective set out in the Explanatory Memorandum.
Details of the fees, to which the Manager is entitled, are provided in Note 4 to these financial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

4. Fees

Management fee

The Manager is entitled to receive a management fee at an anmal rate of 1% on the net asset value of the
Trust at each month end, payable in arrears. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the management fee
was US$812 310 (2018: USS700,743). As at December 31, 2019, a management fee of US$78,523 (2018:
US$45,044) was payable to the Manager.

Performance fee

The Manager 15 also enfitled to receive an anmual performance fee of 10% of any increase in net asset
value above an initial 4% increase in each financial year on a cunmlative basis in the net asset value of
umits as at the last dealing day of the preceding financial year or a base net asset value of US$100 per umit
for the first financial year

Registrar’s and administration fees
The Trustee is entitled to receive a fixed fee of US$12 000 per annum as Trustee’s fee, Registrar’s fees
and administration fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Registrar’s and administration fee was US$12,000 (2018:
US$12,000). As at December 31, 2019, Registrar’s and adnunistration fees of USS1,000 (2018: US$1,000)
was payable to the Trustee.

5. Capital Transactions

The Trust has an unlimited unit capital amount with no par value. All outstanding units share the same
charactenistics.

Units in the Trust are normally issued on or with effect from any dealing day (monthly) in respect of
applications recerved before the subscnption dealing deadline in relation to the relevant dealing day. The
1ssue price 13 the amount equal to the Net Asset Value per unit as at the relevant valuation point plus an
amount, 1f any, as the Manager may determine to add in respect of fiscal and purchase charges and such
amount will be rounded up to the nearest cent. The benefit of such rounding is retained as part of the
Trust's assets.

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager is obliged to accept requests for the redemption of units by aranging
for their cancellation on any dealing day (monthly) m respect of requests received before the redemption
dealing deadlme which is at least 14 days prior to the relevant dealing day. Redemption price of a Unit
will be the amount equal to the Net Asset Value per unit of the Trust calculated on that dealing day less
any amount of performance fee payable to the Manager and any applicable expense as the Manager may
determine to deduct. No partial redemption which would result in the umtholder retaming fewer than 100
umits or such lesser mumber as the Manager may in its discretion agree. In addition, the Manager may
linnit the number of units to be redeemed on any redemption date to 10% of total number of units in issue.
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

5.

Capital Transactions (continued)

Units cutstanding at beginning of year
Umits 15sued
Units redesmed
Met chanpe

Units cutstanding at end of year
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2019 2018
MNumber of MNumber of
mits umits

149 447 164 240
74,590 1207
(15,755) (16.,000)
5B.835 (14,793)
208282 140 447

During the year, 74,500 units (2018: 1,207 units) were issued for US$31,064.731 (2018: US$550,000)
and 15,755 units (2018: 16,000 units) were redeemed for US$6,710,017 (2018: US$7.356.481).

As at December 31, 2019, no subscription was receivable from imvestors was (2018: US$250,000) and
redemptions payable to imvestors was US$2,736,659 (2018: Nil). Units are issued and redeemed in

accordance with the Trust Deed.

Subscriptions receivable, beginning of the year
Subscriptions during the year

Subscriptions receivable, end of the year
Proceeds from issuance of units

Redemptions payable, beginning of the year
during the year

Fedemptions payable, end of the year

Payment for redemption of units
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31,064,731 550,000
- (250,000)
32214731 "~ 300,000
2019 2018

Uss uss
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(2,736.659) -
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

6. Taxation (continued)

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there 13 no income, withholding, capital gains, corporation,
mhentance, or estate taxes of any kind.

The Trust has recerved an undertaking from the Governor-in-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that for the
period of fifty years from October 5, 2004 (date of establishment), no law which i3 hereafter enacted
the Cayman Islands imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Trust.

The Trust recognizes and measures its unrecognized tax positions in accordance with ASC 740, Income
Taxes. These principles prescribe the mimimum recognition threshold a tax position must meet
connection with accounting for uncertainties in income tax positions taken or expected. The applications
of these primeiples did not impact the Trust’s financial statements.

The Trust has analyzed the positions for all open tax years (2004 to 2018), and the positions to be taken
for the tax year ended December 31, 2019 in its major jurisdictions, and have determined whether or not
there are uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recogmtion. Based on 1ts analysis, the
Board of Directors has determimed that thiz policy did not have a material impact on the Trust’s financial
statements. However, the Board of Directors” conclusions regarding this policy may be subject to review
and adjustment at a later date based on factors including, but not limited to, on-gomg analyses of and
changes to tax laws, regulations and interpretations thereof The Trst recognizes interest acerued related
to unrecognized tax benefits in mterest expense and penalties in other expenses, if assessed. No interest
expense of penalties have been assessed for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: Wil).

7. Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the financial assets of the Trust consist of its mvestment m the Master
Fund and as such the Manager determined that fair value of the financial assets invelved inputs other than
gquoted prices that are observable for the asset either directly (as prices) or indirectly (denved from prices)
Le level 2.

For the vear ended December 31, 2019, there were no transfers between Level 1 or Level 2 and Level 3
(2018: no transfers between Level 1 or Level 2 and Level 3).

8. Distributions

The Trustee may make distnbutions, at the discretion of the Manager, in respect of each financial year to
each unitholder on the distribution date falling in the subsequent financial year of up to all of the
appreciation in the net asset value of the wmits held by the unithalders in the current financial year. Na

distributions were made for the current or prior year.

9, Indemnifications

The Trust enters mto contracts that contain a variety of indemmifications. The Trust’s maximum exposura
under these amrangements is unknown. However, the Trust has not had prier claims or losses pursuant to
these contracts and expects the risk of loss to be remote.

10
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

10.  Financial Highlights

The following repressents the per umit information, ratio to average net assets and other information for
the year ended December 31, 2019:

2019 2018
Us$ Us$
Per unit operating performance
Met asset value, beginning of year 30428 47741
Income/{loss) from investment operations:
Net investment expenses [ 445 {508
Net gain/(loss) on mvestments 40.56 { T78.07)
Total income/(loss) from investment operations 3611 { 8313)
Met asset value, end of year 43039 30422
Total investment refumn prier to performance fee 9.16% (17.41%)
Performance fee 0.00% 0.00%
Total investment refumn after performance fee 9.16% (17.41%:)
Ratio to average net assets:
Expenses other than performance fee 1.10% 1.12%
Performance fees 0.00% 0.00%
Total expenses 1.10%% 1.12%
Met investment expenses (1.10%%) { 1.12%%)

An mdrvidual investor’s per unit operating performance, total retum and ratios to average net assets may
vary from these amounts and ratios based on the timing of capital transactions.

11. Subsequent Events
In accordance with the provision set forth in FASB ASC 8535, the Trust evaluated subsequent events
March 27, 2020 whch iz the date when the financial statements were available for 1ssnance.
Subsequent to December 31, 2019, 3300 shares were redeemed for total capital redemptions of
1U5$1,291, 554, There were no other significant events affecting the Trust during this period.
The cutbreak of Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19 outbreak™) m early 2020 has had significant impact

on global financial markets. The Manager will pay close attention to the development of the COVID-19
outbreak and evaluate its impact on the financial position and operating results of the Trust.

1
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Audited Financial Statements

CCMF LIMITED

{An exempted company inc ated in the Cayman
Islands with limited ﬁ‘:ahi]it_f,r

Years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
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62 Forum Lane Fax: +1 345949 B529
Camana Bay BLoom
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woarking world Grard Cayman KY1-110&
CAYMAN ISLANDS

Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
CCMF Limited

We have audited the accompanyving financial statements of COMF Limited (the “Fund™). which
comprise the statements of assets and liabilities, including the condensed schedules of investments,
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of operations, changes in net assets
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financlal Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design.
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
CITor.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s intemnal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An avdit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonablencss of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

A e el BTGl & roung chlal Linkdioe
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinien
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of CCMF Limited at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
W ¥ Mﬂ

March 27, 2020
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2019

Assets
Investments m secunties, at fair value

{Cost 2019: US$97,204,532; 2018: US§70,036,325)
Interest receivable

Cash and cash equivalents
Amounts due from broker

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Bedemptions payable

Total liabilities

Net assets
Mumber of participating shares outstanding

Wet asset value per participating share

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2019 2018
Uss USE
£9.519.255 57,858,822
10 84
974,640 754,847
2,009,032 -
18,334 38,917
92521271 58,652,670
49192 46217
3,122,460 )
3,171,632 46217
80,349 619 58,606,453
515,050 373,000
173.48 157.12
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CCMF LIMITED
CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31, 2019

Notes 2019 2018
Uss Uss
Investment income and expenses
Income:
Dividend mcome 3,406,438 2346331
Withholding tax expense 6 (2368327 { 160326)
Other income 12,177 832
Total investment mcome 3,162,288 2,186,837
Expenses:
Registrar's and admimistration fees 4 181,978 169,842
Sub-custodian fee 23,008 20,779
Legal and professional fees 32,960 33,905
Transaction fee 4 3.040 3.380
Bank charges 25 10,211
Directors’ fee 4 38,333 40,086
Other expenses 27.082 26,854
Total expenses 306,516 305,257
Net investment income 2,833,712 1,881 580
Realized and change in unrealised gains/(losses) on
investments and foreign currency transactions
Net reahised (losses)/'gains on sale of investments { 977883 1,460 536
Net change in unrealized gains/(losses) on investments
durmg the year 4492426 ( 15,226.269)
Exchange losses { 21,592) ( 22.182)
Net realised and change in unrealised gains/(Josses) from
investments and foreign currency transactions 3,492 940 (13778913
Net increase/{decrease) in net assets resulting from operations 6,348 721 (11.897333)

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended December 31, 2019

Note 2019 2018
Uss Uss
Change in net assets resulting from operations
Net mvestment mcome 2855172 1,881 580
Net realized (losses)/gains on sale of investments ( 977883 1,469,336
et change in unrealised gains(losses) on investments
durmg the year 4,492 426 { 15,226,269)
Exchange losses ( 21.592) { 22,182)
Net change in net assets resulting from operations 6348721 { 11,897 335)
Change in net assets resnlting from capital share transactions
Participating share subscriptions 5 31,540,960 -
Participating share redemptions 5 ( 7.146.513) (8,910,970
Net change in net assets resulting from capital share
transactions 24,394 445 (8,910,970
Net change in net assets 30,743,166 { 20,808,305)
Net assets at beginning of year 58,606,433 79,414,758
Net assets at end of year 80 349 619 38,606,453

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2019
MNote

Cash flows from operating activities
Net change in net assets resulting from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net change in net assets resulting
from operations to net cash generated from operating
activities:
Purchasas of investments
Proceeds from sales of investments
Net realised losses/(gains) on sale of investments
Net change m unrealised (gams)/losses on mvestments
during the year
Changes n operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in amounts due from broker
Decrease/(Increase) in interest recervable
Decrease in other assets
Increase/{decrease) in accrued expenses and other hiabilities
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issnance of participating shares

Payment for redemption of participating shares

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities

[

Wet increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2019 2018

Uss USE
6348721  ( 11.897.335)

( 33.606724) ( 13.687.650)
5,460,832 18,372,852
077885 (1469536

( 4492.426) 15,226,269
( 2,000,032) ;
4 59)

20,583 49471
2075 ( 2.285)

( 27.297.112) 6,591,727
31,540,960 ;
( 4024055 ( 9,521.490)
27516905  ( 9.521.490)
219793 ( 2,929.763)
754,847 3,684,610
974,640 754,847
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

1. Organisation

CCMF Limited (the "Fund") is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with himited
hiability on November 24, 2011. The Fund commenced operations on December 15, 2011. The Fund has
no employess.

Cape China Fund, a Cayman Islands Unit Trust ("Feeder Fund™), invests all or substantially all of its
assets through the participating shares 1ssued by the Fund. Cape Asset Management Limited, a company
I m Hong Kong with limited Liability (the "Manager™), acts as investment manager of the Fund
and the Feeder Fund.

The Fund's investment objective 15 to maximise capital gains by investing in the greater China region.
The Manager will seek to achieve the investment objective of the Fund principally by identifymg and
acguiring equity securities of compamies that the Manager considers have growth potential and which
operate in, carry on a business in or derive revenne from or are located in the greater China region or with
business mterests in the greater China region and will identify such other investments as may otherwise
mean the objective of the Fund can be attained

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Fund's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America ("US. GAAP”) and are stated in United States Dollars, which
15 also the fimetional currency. The following is a summary of the sigmficant accounting and reporting
policies nsed in prepanng the financial statements:

Accounting and Regulatory Development

On Jamuary 5. 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 201601, Financial
Instruments — Ovwerall (Subtopic 823-10): Recognifion and Measurement of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilifies. The update intends to enhance the reportimg model for financial mstruments to
provide users of financial instruments with mere decision-nseful information and addresses certan
aspects of the recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. The ASTT
will also address measurement of credit losses on financial assets. ASU 2016-01 is effective for entities
other than public business entities, for fiscal years begimming after December 15, 2018. This new ASU
has been adapted dunng the year ended December 31, 2019 and has no mmpact on the Fund's financial
position and financial performance.
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Accounting and Regulatory Development (continned)

In Nowvember 2016, FASE issued the ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows. The amendments apply to
all entities that have restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents and are required to present a statement
of cash flows. This update requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period m
the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash
equivalents. Therefore, amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents
should be mcluded with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of- period and end-
of-peried total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The update does not provide a definifion
of restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. This ASU is effective for the Fund's fiscal vears
beginning after December 15, 2018, and mterim peniods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2019. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an mterim period. The ASU should be applied
using a retrospective transition method to each period presented. This ASU has been adopted during the
vear ended December 31, 2019 and does not have an impact on the Fund's financial statements in the

current year.

In August 2018, the FASB issued the ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurements (Topic 820): Disclosure
Framework - Chmgm to the Disclosure ReqmrementsforFalI Value Measurement, to streamline
disclosure raquirements while continuing to provide nseful mformation for financial statement nsers. For
non-public entifies, AST 2018-13 eliminates disclosures for policy of timing of transfers, valuation
process for Level 3 fair value measurements and the changes in unrealized gains and losses included m
for Level 3 investments held at the end of the reporting period. The ASU also amends disclosure
reguirements for the Level 3 roll forward. All other changes implemented by the ASU are applicable to
public companies only. The guidance is effective for financial statements with fiscal years beginning after
December 13, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. This new ASU is not expected to have an impact on the
Fund’s financial position and financial performance.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts due from banks on demand. As at December 31, 2019, all
cash and cash equivalents are held with cash custodian, Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corperation
Limited. No restricted is cash held by Fund as at December 31, 2019.

Due from/to Broker

Due from broker inchades cash held by broker and amounts receirvable for securities fransactions that have
not been settled at the date of the statemnent of assets and hiabilities. Due to broker is payable for secunities
purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have been contracted for but not yet delivered on the

Investment Company

The Fund meets the defimition of an investment company within Accountmg Standards Codification
("ASC") Topic 946, "Financial Services — Investment Companies”, issued by FASE, and applies the
accounting and reporting guidance in this Topic to its financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Fund's assets and lisbilities which qualify as financial instruments under FASE ASC
823, "Financial Instrumenis ", approximates the carrying amounts presented i the financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment Valuation

The Fund's investment in listed securities are valued at their last traded prices on the valuation date where
the stock exchange in gquestion closes on or before the valuation point on the relevant valuation date, or,
if such stock exchange closes after the valuation point on the relevant valuation date, by reference to the
last traded price as at close of business on the stock exchange immediately prior to the relevant valuation
date_ If no such last traded price 15 available, the securnities are valued at midway between the latest
available market dealng offered price and the latest available market dealing bid price on the principal
stock exchange for snch mvestments. Market values are determined by nsing quoted market prices.

The mputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the nisk
associated with mvesting in those securities.

Dividend Income
Dividend mcome 15 recorded on the ex-dividend date.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and hiabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the date of the statement of assets and liabilities. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Exchange gains or losses, both realised and
unrealised, are included in the statements of operations.

The Fund does not isclate that portion of gains and losses on mvestments which 1s due to changes m
foreign exchange rates from that which is due to changes in market prices of the investments. Such
fluctuations are inchuded with the net realized and unrealised gains and losses from investments.

Investment Gains and Losses

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Realised gains and losses resulting from
the sale of mvestments are calculated on an average cost basis, and are reflected i the statement of
operations. Unrealised appreciation and depreciation on investments are inchided in the net asset value at
the statement of assets and lizbilities and changes m unreahised appreciation or depreciation on
mvesiments is included m the statement of operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.5. GAAP may require management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actal results counld differ from these estimates.

3 Related Party Transactions
The Fund 13 managed by the Manager, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited lisbility. The

Manager is responsible, subject to the policies and supervision of the Directors of the Fund, for the
mvestment of the Fund's assets. The remmmeration of the Manager is bome by the Feeder Fund.
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

4. Fees

Directors’ fee

The Directors are entitled to receive a fee from the Fund. They may be paid the reasonable travel and out-
of-pocket expenses properly incurred by them in attendimg and returning from meetings of the Directors,
any commuttee of the Directors, any general meeting or any other meeting held m connection with the
business of the Fund, which are not expected to exceed 1758 20,000 per anmum per Director. For the year
ended December 31, 2019, Directors fee were T/3838,333 (2018: US$40,086). Of the Directors fee,
US$ENL (2018: USSNIL), included in the accrued expenses and other Liabilities, was still payable at year-
end.

Registrar's and administration fees

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the "Admimstrator”) has been appointed on December 13, 2011 to
perform the administrative services. The Admimistrator is entitled to receive admimistration and custodian
fees from the Fund calculated at the following anmual rate of the net asset value of the Fund:

Proor to 1 November 2019

For the first US$50 million of the net asset value 0.250%:
For the next US%50 million of the net asset value 0.225%
Above US$100 mallion of the net asset value 0.200%
Effective from | Movember 2019

For the first US$100 million of the net asset value 0.130%:
For the next T75%1350 million of the net asset value 0.125%
Above US5250 million of the net asset value 0.100%%

The fees will accrue on each dealing day (menthly) and be paid monthly m arrears. It 15 subject to a
mininmm monthly fee of US$2,500.

Effective from 1 November 2019, the monthly mininmm fee has been revised to US$6,500.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the administration fee was US$181.978 (2018: US8169,842). As
at December 31, 2019, an administration fee of US$11,782 (2018: US$11,077) was payable to the
Transaction fee

The Administrater 1s entitled to receive transaction fees and charges on the basis of the number of equities
transactions, payable menthly m armmears.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, transaction fees were US$3,040 (2018: US$3 580). As at
December 31, 2019, a transaction fee of US$160 (2018: US$140) was payable to the Administrator.

Management and Performance fees
The Fund's Manager does not charge any management and performance at the Master Fund level.

5. Share Capital
The share capital of the Fund iz US$30,000 divided into 100 management shares of TUS$1.00 par value
each and 49,900,000 participating shares of US$0.001 par value each as at both December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018.
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

5 Share Capital (continued)

The Directors shall determine the subscription price at the time of issue of the first 13sne of participating
shares. Thereafter, the Directors may issue participating shares on any subscription date provided that
such additional participating shares are issued at a subscription price equal to not less than the net asset
value per participating share (such amount will be rounded up to the nearest cent and the benefit of such
rounding is retained as part of the Fund's assets) calculated on the relevant subseription date or on any
day as may be specified by the Directors. The subscription date is any dealing day in respect of
applications recerved before the subscription dealing deadline in relation to the relevant dealing day.

A shareholder may generally require the redemption of all or amy of such shareholder’s participating
shares by serving a redemption notice on the Fund. The Fund shall redeem such participating shares at

the redemption price, being an amount equal to the net asset value per participating share (such amount
nﬂlbemmﬂﬂddmmmenmrestcents}mkuhtedmﬂmrekwntmdzmpuondate of on any day as
may be specified by the Directors. The redemption date is any dealing day provided that the redemption
request nmst be received before the redemption dealing deadline in relation to the relevant dealing day.
The Directors may mpose a gate the effect of which is to limit the redemptions of participating shares of
any class andfor series as of any redemption date to such extent and in such manner as they may, in their
sole discretion, determine. If the Directors determime to limit redemptions, the Directors may determine
the manner in which such gated redemption requests will be dealt with on any subsecuent redemption
date.

The holder of management shares shall have the right to receive notice of, attend at and vote as a member

at any general meeting of the Fund, and the right in a winding up to repayment of capital but shall confer
no other right to participate in the profits or assets of the Fund.

The holder of participating shares shall generally not have the right to receive notice of, attend at or vote
as a member at any general meeting of the Fund, but may vote at a separate meeting of holders of
participating shares, but shall have the right in a winding up to participate in the surplus assets of the Fund.

All management shares were allotted and 1ssued to the Manager at par value as resolved by the Directors
on December 14, 2011.

The participating shares are issued and redeemed in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of
Association and as established by the Directors.

2019 2018

Management shares at beginning and end of year 100 100
Participating shares outstanding at beginning of year 373,000 421 484
Participating shares issued 184,000 -
Participating shares redeemed ( 41,950) {  484840)
Net change 142,050 { 48484)
Participating shares cutstanding at end of year 315,050 373,000

During the vear, 184,000 umits (2018: Nil) of participating shares were issued for US$31. 540,960
(2018: Nil) and 41,950 (2018: 48 484) participating shares were redeemed for USS$ 7146515
(2018: US$8.910.970).
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

5 Share Capital (continued)

As at December 31. 2019 redemption payable of US$3.122 460 (2018: Nil) was payable to Cape China

Fund.

2019 2018

Uss Uss
Subscriptions receivable, beginning of the year - -
Subscriptions durning the year 31,540,960 -
Subscriptions receivable, end of the year - -
Proceeds from issuance of units 31,540,960 -
Fedemptions payable, beginning of the year - 610,320
Redemptions during the year 7,146,515 £,910,970
Fedemptions payable, end of the year (3,122 460) -
Payment for redemption of units 4.024.055 93521490

6. Taxation

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there 13 no income, withholding, capital gains, corporation,
mhentance, or estate taxes of any kind.

Dividend revenue is subject to withholding tax in certain jurisdictions and is the only item subject to
taxation. The withholding tax for the year ended December 31, 2019 was US$236.327 (2018:
Us$160,326).

The Fund has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that for the
period of fifty years from Diecember 15, 2011 (date of establishment), no law which is hereafter enacted
m the Cayman Islands imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Fund.

The Fund 1z not subject to any Hong Kong tax on income or capital gams. As a result, no tax hiability or
expense has been recorded in the financial statemnents.

The Fund recognises and measures its unrecogmised tax positions in accordance with ASC 740, Income
Tiaxes. These principles prescribe the minimum recognition thresheld a tax position mmst meet

connection with accounting for uncertainties in income tax positions taken or expected. The applications
of these principles did not impact the Fund's financial staternents.
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

6. Taxation (continued)

The Fund has analysed the positions for all open tax years (2011 to 2018), and the positions to be taken
fnrﬂmtaxjmmdbdﬂecembaﬁl 2019 in 1ts major junsdictions, and have determined whether or not
there are uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recognition. Based on its analysis, the
Board of Directors has determmed that this policy did not have a material impact on the Fund's financial
statements. However, the Board of Directors’ conclusions regxrdj.ugﬂlispu]icymnjrhe subject to Teview
and adjustment at a later date based on factors including, but not limited to, on-gong analyses of and
changes to tax laws, regulations and interpretations thereof The Flmdremgmses interest accrued related
to unrecognised tax benefits in interest expense and penalties in other expenses. if assessed. No mterest
expense of penalties have been assessed for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: Wil).

7. Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Inwvestments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the followng
categories.

Level I — Quoted prices are available i active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date.
The type of mvestments meluded in Level T include listed equities and listed derivatives. As required by
ASC 820, the Fund does not adjust the quoted price for these mvestments, even in sitmations where the
Fund holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level IT — Pricing mputs are other than quoted prices m active markets, which are either directly or
indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or
other valuation methodologies.

Level Il - Pncmg mputs are unobservable for the mvestment and inchudes situations where there 15 little,
if any, market activity for the imvestment. The inputs into the determination of fair value require
significant management judgment or estimation. Investments that are included in this category generally
mechide the Fund's interest in delisted equty secunties

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall i to different levels of the fair value

i . In such cases, an investment's level within the fair value hierarchy 15 based on the lowest level
of input that 15 significant to the fair value measurement. The Fund's assessment of the sigmificance of a
particular imput to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors
specific to the mvestment.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

T. Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis (continued)

Description December 31, 2019  Quoted Price in Sipnificant Sipnificant
USt  Active Markets Other  Unobservable
Total for Identical Observable Tnputs
Assets Inputs
(Level I} (Level I (Level IIT)
Uss UsH US$
Assets
Investments in securities
Common stocks 89519 255 B9 519255 - -
89,519 255 B0 519255 - -
Description December 31, 2018  Quoted Price in Significant Significant
US$  Active Markets Other  Unobservable
Total for Identical Observable Tnputs
Aszets Tnputs
(Level I} (Level II) (Lewvel III)
Uss USH Us§
Aszets
Investments 1n securities
Common stocks 57858822 57858822 - -
57,858 822 57858822 - -

For the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no transfers between Level 1 or Level 2 and Level 3
(2018: no transfers between Level 1 or Level 2 and Level 3).

At December 31, 2019, all investments in securities are held with the custodian, Hong Kong and Shanghai
Bank Corporation Limited.

The changes in investments levels are disclosed using the "begmming of period method,” which assumes
the mvestment in securities would be transferred into or out of the mvestment level at fair value at the
begmming of the reporting year. There was no mvestment in secunties that were transferred in or out of
level 3 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
) Dividends and Distributions

The Directors may declare dividends and distributions on participating shares and authorise payment of
the dividends or distributions. No dividend or distribution shall be paid except out of the realised or
unrealised profits of the Fund or out of the share premmm aceount of the participating shares.

All dividends and distributions in respect of participating shares generally shall be declared and paid
according to the net asset value of the participating shares.

No dividend or distribution was paid or payable for the vear ended December 31, 2019 (2018: Nil).
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

Q. Indemnifications

The Fund enters mto contracts that contain a vanety of indemmifications. The Fund's maximum exposure
under these arrangements is unknown However, the Fund has not had prier claims or losses pursuant to
these contracts and expects the risk of loss to be remote.

10. Financial Instrmments and associated risks
The Master Fund's investment activities expose it to various types of risk, both on and off the statement
of fmancial condition, whach are associated with financial mstroments and markets m which it mvests.
These financial instruments of the Master Fund all m histed equity securities expose the Master Fund to
varying degrees of elements of market, credit, and foreign currency nsk.
Market risk

Market nisk 15 the nisk of potential adverse changes to the value of the financial mstruments and their
denivatives because of changes in market conditions.

In the normal course of business, the Master Fund trades histed equity securities. Investments in listed
equity securities is subject to equity price nisk.

Credit risk

Credit nisk is measured as the loss the Master Fund would record if its counterparties failed to perform
pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Master Fund. Smee the Master Fund mainly mwvests m
listed equity securities, eredit exposure with such transactions 15 minimal.

Foreign currency risk

The Master Fund invests in securities denominated in a currency other than the US dollar. Consequently,
the Master Fund is exposed to nisks that the exchange rate of the US dollar relative to the other cumency
may change m a manner, which has an adverse effect on the reported value of that portion of the Master
Fund’s assets or liabalities, which are denominated in cwrencies other than the US dollar. The Master
Fund considers the exposure to foreign cumrency risk is minmimal as its investments are mainly
denominated in the Hong Kong dollar, which is pegzed to the US dollar.

Concentration risk

At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Master Fund was concentrated mn 1ssuers and
mdustries listed on the condensed schedule of investments.

Master-feeder structure

Due to the natore of the master-feeder structure, the Master Fund could be materially affected by
contribution or withdrawal activity of its Feeder Funds.

13
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019

11.  Financial Highlights

The following represents the per participating share information, ratio to average net assets and other
mformation for the year ended December 31, 2019 and have not been anmalised:

2019 2018
Uss Us%
Per participating share operating performance
Met asset value, beginning of year 15712 18842
Income/(loss) from investment operations:
Net investment income 377 485
Net gain/(loss) on mvestments 10.59 (36.15)
Total from mvestment operations 16.36 (31.30)
Met asset value, end of year 17348 157.12
Total investment retum/(loss) 10.41% (16.61%)
Ratio to average net assets:
Expenses 0.70% 0.66%
Total expenses 0.70% 0.66%
Net investment income 3.55% 2.69%

An mdividual imvestor’s per participating share operating performance, total retum and ratios to average
net assets may vary from these amounts and ratios based on the timing of capital transactions.

12. Subsequent Events
In accordance with the provision set forth in FASB ASC 855, the Fund evaluated subsequent events
through March 27, 2020 which iz the date when the financial statements were available for issnance.
Subsequent to December 31, 2019, 9600 shares were redeemed for total capital redemptions of
US$1,515,456. There were no other significant events affecting the Fund during this period.
The cutbreak of Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19 outbreak™) in early 2020 has had significant impact

on global financial markets. The Manager will pay close attention to the development of the COVID-19
outbreak and evaluate its impact on the financial position and operating results of the Fund
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS
December 31, 2019

Fair value %% of
Description Uss net assets
Investment in securities
Common stock
Hong Kong
Airlines 5408350 6.05%
Apparel Manufacturers 362,378 0.41%
Auto/Truck Parts & Equipment 4 986431 3.58%
Building & Construction - Miscellaneous 3,803,161 4.26%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 4 803,022 5.38%
Capacitors 118,134 0.13%
Commercial Banks Non - US 29.127.061 32.60%
Distnbution/Wholesale 1,935,732 217%
Elecinc - Generation 201,277 1.01%
Energy - Alternate Sources 2,680,620 3.00%
Fmance - [nvestment Banker'Broker 5,667,701 6.34%
Fmance - Other Services 8,102,470 9.07%
Food - Meat Products 318419 0.36%
Food - Miscellaneous/ Diversified 321264 0.36%
Food - Retail 820,635 0.92%
Gas - Distnbution 2,370,743 2.65%
Metal - Alommum 128 504 0.14%
Miscellanepus Manufacturing 1,465,193 1.64%
(Ol - Field Services 2,450 464 2.74%
Power Conv/Power Supply Equipment 1.482.370 1.66%
Peeal Estate Operation/Development 9322 486 10.43%
Rental Auto/Equipment 822145 0.92%
Steel - Producers 574,793 0.64%
Steel - Specialty 1,415,685 1.58%
Textile - Products 130,217 0.15%
Total Hong Kong
(Cost: US$ 97,204,332 80519235 100.19%
Total investment in securities
(Cost: US 97,204,532) §9,519,255 100.19%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (contimmed)

December 31, 2019

Sipnificant securtties holdings with more than 3% of net asset value of the Fund:

Cost Farr value Yo of

Company Uss Quantity ~_ US$  netassets
Airlines

China Southem Airlines Co Litd H Shrs 5,201,830 TE58.000 5408350 6.05%
Aute/Truck Parts & Equipment

Weichai Power Co Ltd H Shrs 2,630,538 2400000 4986431 5.58%
Building & Construction Products -

Miscellaneous

China Lesso Group Holdmgs Lid Shrs 2535416 3574000 4566313 5.11%
Commercial Banks Non - US

Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 9. 168,060 17,200,000 7420885 231%

China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 8,169,942 10,158,393 8,204,745 9.83%

China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrz 8,037,120 11351280  E62ERE2 9.66%:
Finance - Investment Banker/Broker

CITIC Securities Co Ltd H Shrs 5,383 841 2444000 5,667,701 6.34%
Finance - Other Services

Hong Kong Exchanges & Clearing Ltd (HESE) 6,046,053 246,202 £,102.470 907
Real Estate Operation/Development

Eed Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7,721,433 7820556 6,605,269 T3%%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

111/207



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS

December 31, 2018

Fair value % of

Description Uss net assets

Investment in securities

Common stock

Hong Kong
Aimrlines 2,350,084 4.01%
Apparel Mamifactorers 1,666,456 2.84%
Auto/Track Parts & Equipment 1,920,470 3.28%
Auntomotive - Cars & Lt. Trucks 128314 0.22%
Building & Construction - Miscellanegus 3,894 810 6.65%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 2,046,183 3.49%
Capacitors 201,025 0.34%
Commercial Banks Non - US 15459 326 26.38%
Distnbution/Wholesale 1,594 3449 2.72%
Elecinic - Generation 1,352 294 231%
Electrome Compenents - Miscellaneous 201,881 0.34%
Energy - Altemnate Sources 3310922 3.65%
Fmance - [nvestment Banker/Broker 1,820 220 3.12%
Fmance - Other Services 5,803,672 9.00%
Food - Meat Products 477 502 0.81%
Food - Miscellaneous/ Diversified 516,320 0.88%
Food - Retail 603,671 1.03%
Gas - Distnbution 2,629.0905 4.49%
Instruments - Controls 420,523 0.72%
Miscellanepus Manufacturing 1943971 3.32%
(Ol - Field Services 1,139 888 1.94%
Power Conv/Power Supply Equipment 759,670 1.30%
Real Estate Operation/Development 4 724 260 2.06%
Eental Auto/Equipment 804,008 1.37%
Steel - Producers 604,688 1.03%
Steel - Specialty 790,950 1.35%
Textile - Products 685,165 1.17%
Total Hong Kong
(Cost: US$70,036,525) 57,858,822 98.72%
Total investment in securities
(Cost: US$70,036,525) 57,858,822 98.72%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (contimmed)

December 31, 2018

Sipnificant securities holdings with more than 3% of net asset value of the Fund:

Cost Fair value Yo of
Company Uss Cruantity USS et assets

Building & Construction - Miscellansous

China Communications Construction Co Ltd H Shrs 3,901,427 3870000 3654972 6.24%

Commercial Banks Non-U5

Bank of China Ltd H Shrs 6094814 12,000,000 5,117,238 273%
China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 5,248,814 6,661393  5409,163 9.23%
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H Shrs 4,958,365 7235280 4,932,925 2.42%

Finance - Other Services

Hong Kong Exchanges & Cleaning Itd (HKSE) 4335327 201849  5203,673 9.00%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(2020 )
75,985,029 8,120,520
73,486 7,853
75,911,543 8,112,667
204,982
370.33 39,577
2020 30 UFJ

=106.87
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2019 12 31
2019 2018

10 380,000 5,240
10 1,158,462 15,975 485,272 6,692
11 33,700,594 464,731 34,459,391 475,195
9,272,342 127,866 12,096,708 166,814
44,131,398 608,572 47,041,371 648,701
12 169,972 2,344 199,424 2,750
43,961,426 606,228 46,841,947 645,950
43,961,426 606,228 47,221,947 651,191
13 5,773,600 79,618 5,773,600 79,618
38,187,826 526,610 41,448,347 571,573
43,961,426 606,228 47,221,947 651,191

2020 28
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2019 12 31
2019 2018

6,372,987 87,883 5,494,488 75,769

138,112 1,905 132,627 1,829

(405,637) (5.594) (1,504,628) (20,749)
(5,483,543) (75,618) (5,774,932) (79,636)
(3,882,440) (53,539) (4,740,699) (65,374)
(3,260,521) (44,963) (6,393,144) (88,161)
(3,260,521) (44,963) (6,393,144) (88,161)
(3,260,521) (44,963) (6,393,144) (88,161)
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2019 12 31
5,773,600 79,618 94,779,230 1,307,006 100,552,830 1,386,624
(6,393,144) (88,161) (6,393,144) (88,161)
(46,937,739) (647,271)  (46,937,739) (647,271)
5,773,600 79,618 41,448,347 571,573 47,221,947 651,191
(3,260,521) (44,963) (3,260,521) (44,963)
5,773,600 79,618 38,187,826 526,610 43,961,426 606,228
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
(3,260,521) (44,963) (6,393,144) (88,161)
(376,231) (5,188) (854,957) (11,790)
781,868 10,782 2,359,585 32,539
(138,112) (1,905) (132,627) (1,829)
(2,992,996) (41,273) (5,021,143) (69,242)
1,135,028 15,652 2,919,482 40,260
(292,784) (4,037) 8,667,264 119,522
23,466 324 (2,952,911) (40,721)
(406) (6) 113 2
(52,918) (730) (21,625) (298)
(2,180,610) (30,071) 3,591,180 49,522
138,112 1,905 132,627 1,829
138,112 1,905 132,627 1,829
9 (46,937,739)  (647,271)
(46,937,739)  (647,271)
(2,042,498) (28,166)  (43,213,932)  (595,920)
12,096,708 166,814 57,670,225 795,272
(781,868) (10,782) (2,359,585) (32,539)
9,272,342 127,866 12,096,708 166,814
6,152,814 84,847 7,970,850 109,918
3,119,528 43,018 4,125,858 56,896
9,272,342 127,866 12,096,708 166,814
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HKFRS

HKICPA

2.2.

HKFRS

89

HKAS

HKFRS HKFRS

HKFRS
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HKFRS

125/207

HKFRS

33

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

3303

HKFRS
HKICPA

2.3.



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2.4. HKFRS
2019 1 HKCIPA
HKFRSs
HKFRSs

HKFRS

HKFRS 16

HKAS 19

HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)- 23

HKFRSs HKFRSs 2015-2017

HKFRSs
HKFRS 16
HKFRS 16
HKAS 17 HKFRS 16
HKFRS 16  HKAS 17
HK1CPA
2019 12 31
2.5.
FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTOCI
FVTPL

FVTPL
FVTOCI
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2018 12 31

2019 2018
7,456 2,858
6,365,531 5,491,630
6,372,987 5,494,488
138,112 132,627
6,511,099 5,627,115
2019 2018

781,868 2,359,585

376,231 854,957

405,637 1,504,628

2019 2018
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1,440,000
1,440,000
4,011,509 4,307,439
59,445 54,808
140,400 114,600
( )
2019 2018
1,376,589 1,376,685
36,000 36,000
1,412,589 1,412,685
2019 2018
(3,260,521) (6,393,144)
16.5 (537,986) (1,054,869)
79,169
(22,788) (195, 662)

481,605 1,250,531
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380,000

2019 2018
1,946 2,433
2,862,931 2,380,839
2,864,877 2,383,272
2019 2018
46,937,739
2019 2018
578 172
611,432 352,784
546,452 512,316
1,158,462 865,272
(1,158,462) (485,272)
380,000
2018 380,000
30 2018 30

30
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11.
2019 2018
33,700,594 34,459,391
2019 12 31 30,000,000 2018
30,000,000 2020 FVTPL
2019 12 31
12.
2019 2018
52,918
46,972 40,906
123,000 105,600
169,972 199,424
30
13.
2019 2018
100,002
2018 100,002 5,773,600 5,773,600
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14.
SFC FRR
FRR
15.
2018 12 31
2018
2,280,000
380,000
2,660,000
16.
2019 2018
a 6,365,531 5,491,630
b 7,456 2,858
c 70,342 823,744
d 2,280,000 2,560,000
380,000 380,000
a
b SAMAL

SAMAL
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SANAL
C
0.15 2018 0.15
d LPIL
190,000
2018 218,000 LPIL
17.
@
O)
(USD) @JPY) (RVB)
(HKD)  USD UsD UsD
HKD JPY RMB
2019 12 31 RMB  HKD 2018 RMB RMB
C )
804,000 2018 2,195,000
2018 RMB
)
2019 12 31 50
10,000 (2018 9,000 )
50
2018

(b)
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2018 45
169,972 169,972 169,972
199,424 199,424 199,424
33,700,594 33,700,594
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BARETHARAT

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Mote HKS HKS
Mon-current assets
Rental deposits 10 - 380,000
Current assets
Account and other receivables 10 1,158,462 485,272
Structured deposits 11 33,700,594 34,459,391
Cash and bank balances 9,272,342 12,096,708
44,131,398 47,041,371
Current liabilities
Account and other payables 2 169,972 199,424
Net current assets 43,961,426 46,841,947
Net assets 43,961,426 47,221,947
Financed ly:
Share capital 13 5,773,600 5,773,600
Reserves 38,187.826 41,448,347
Shareholders’ funds 43,961,426 47,221,947

The financial statements were approved by the Board on
and signed on its behalf by:

A

LO Pui Lcﬁng KAM Pak Wah Franklin
Director Director
|
-8-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Note HEKS HES

Revenue 3 6372987 5494 488
Other mcome 3 138112 132,627
Other net loss 4 (405.637) {1,504,628)
Staff costs (3,483,543 (5,774,931
Other operating expenses (3,882 4400 (4,740,699
Loss hefore tax 5 (3,260.521) (6,393, 144)
Taxation T - -
Loss for the year (3.260.521) (6,393,144
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (3.260.521) (6,393,144
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Cape Asset Management Limited
AR EEEARAT

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Note
Total equity as at 1 January 2018
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Dividends 9
Total equity as at 31 December 2018
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Total equity as at 31 December 2019
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Share
capital Reserves Total
HES HKS HES
5,773,600 04779230 100,552,830
- (6,393,144) (6,393,144)
- (46,937,739) {46,937,739)
5,773,600 41,448 347 47,221,947
- (3.260,521) (3,260,521)
5,773,600 38,187,826 43,961,426
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Cape Asset Management Limited
AR EEEARAT

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Note HES HES
Cash flows from operating activities
Lozs before tax (3,260.321) (6,393,144)
Admstments for:
Net change m unrealised gain on structured deposits (376,231) (854,957
Foreign exchange loss 781,868 2359 585
Interest income (138112) (132,627)
(2,992 096) (3,021,143)
Decrease in structured deposits 1,135,028 2919482
(Increase)/decrease in account and other recervables (292, 784) 2667, 264
Increase/(decrease) in account and other payables 23 466 (2952911
(Increase)/decrease in amount due from a fellow subsidiary (406) 113
Decrease in amount due to a fellow subsidiary (32.,018) (21,625
Net cash (used in}/from operating activities (2.180,6100 3,591,180
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 138,112 132,627
Net cash from investing activities 138112 132,627
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid 9 - (46,937 739
Net cash used in financing activities - (46,937,739
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,042 498) (43,213,930
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 12,096,708 57,670,225
Effiect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (781.868) (2,33938%)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9372342 12,096,708
Amalysis of cash and cash equivalents
Time depesits with maturity of three months or less 6,132 814 7,970,830
Cash and bank balances 3,119 528 4,125 858
09272342 12,096,708
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Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

1. General information
Cape Asset Management Limited 15 a company incorporated in Hong Keng with limited liabihty. Its
registered office 1s located at Umit 3303, 33/F, Tower One, Lippe Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Eong. The
Company 1s a licensed corporation registered under the Secunities and Futures Ordinance. The principal
activities of the Company are the provision of mvestment advisory and financial services.

The ultimate holdmg company is The Seven Intermational Holdings (L) Limited, a private company
incerporated in Labuan, Malaysia.

2.  Significant accounting policies

2.1. Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared m accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HEFF.5s"), which collective term includes all applicable individual HEFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards ("HEASs") and Interpretations 1ssued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HEICPA"™), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company is set out below.

The HEICPA has issued certain new and revised HEFESs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Information on amy changes in accounting
policies resulting from mitial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Company for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements 15 provided m
note 2.3

2.2. Basis of preparation of financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial assets which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements i conformity with HEFRSs requires management to make
Jjudgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recogmised in the peried in which the estimate 15 revised if the rewision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and fiuture periods if the revizion affects both current and firture
periods.

S11-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.2. Basis of preparation of financial statements (cont"d)
Judgements made by management in the application of HEKFE.Ss that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 18.

2.4. The impact of new/revised HEFRSs
In the current year, the Company has applied, for the first time, the following new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretation (collectively referred to as the "new and revised HEKFRSs") issued by
HEICPA, which are effective for the Company’s financial year beginning from 1 Jamuary 2019. A summary
of the new and revised HEKFESs applied by the Company is set out as follows:

Amendments to HEFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
HEFES 16 Leases

Amendments to HEAS 19 Employee Benefits

Amendments to HEAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Jomt Ventures
HE (TFRIC)) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Amendments to HEFRSs Anmmal Improvements to HEFE.Ss 2015-2017 cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to HEFRSs and an interpretation m
the current year has had no material impact on the Company's financial position and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the financial statements

HEFRS 16 "Leases”

HEFES 16 supersedes former HEAS 17: Leases on the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosures of lease contracts or contracts containing leases. On lessee side, HEKFES 16 requires a lessee to
recogmise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for the nights and obligations created by all leases. A
lessee may elect to recognise the lease payments associated with short-term leases and leases for which the
underlying asset 15 of low value as an expense on either straight-line basis over lease term or another
systematic basis. On lessor side, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the accounting requirements in
the HEAS 17; accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and
to account for those two types of leases differently.

Up to the date of 1ssue of these financial statements, the HETCPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and mnterpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2019 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements.

-12-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.4, The impact of new/revised HKFRSs (cont'd)
The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new
standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. Howewver, it 1s not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors of the Company
completed a detailed review.

2.5. Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity mstmument of another entity. A financial asset or a financial liability will be recognised
when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the confractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, financial instruments are accounted for at trade date basis and measured at fair value
plus or mimus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), transaction costs thereon After initial recognition, financial assets and
financial liabilities are measured at fair value or at amorhsed cost based on their respective business
models, coniractual cash flows charactenistics and classifications.

Financial assets at FFTPL

Financial assets other than those measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
mcome ("FVTOCT™) are classified as financial assets at FVTPL. Financial assets that are classified as held
for trading or are designated at FVTFL at imitial recognition for the purpeses of avoiding accounting
mismatch are classified as FVTOCT too. Denvatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. After inifial recogmition, financial assets at FWVTPL are measured at fair value prior to
the deduction of transaction costs. Gains or losses ansing from changes in fair value or otherwise are
recognised in profit or loss. Such gains or losses are presented separately from interast and dividends.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Non-derrvative debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective 13 to hold assets for
collection of contractual cash flows and have specified settlement dates with fixed or determinable
payments of principal and interest thereon are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. After mitial
recognition, financial assets at amortised cost are measured at amertised cost using effective imterest
method, less credit loss allowances. Interest income together with gains or losses resulting from
derecognition are recognised in profit or loss.

At each reporting date, expected credit losses are recogmsed for individnal or collective fimancial assets at
amortised cost in profit or loss. The amounts of expectad credit losses are measured at the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows and the expected future cash flows.

_13-
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Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

1.5, Financial instruments (cont'd)

Financial linbilities at amortisied cost

Non-derivative fimancial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as financial iabihties at amortised cost. After mitial recogmition, fmancial liabilities at
amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the effective mterest method. All finaneial liabilities at
amortised cost are classified as current liabihities unless the Company has a pre-defined repayment schedule
or an mmconditional night to defer settlement of the hability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period. Interest expenses are recognised mn profit or loss. When the bommowing agreement contams clanse
that gives the lender unconditional right to demand repayment at any time disregarding the pre-defined
repayment schedule, the financial liabilities at amortised cost is presented as a current liability in the
statement of financial position imespective of the probability that the lender will invoke the clanse without
cause.

Reclassification of financial assets

Financial assets, but not financial liabilities, are re-classifiable when the business model applicable to a
financial asset or a class of financial assets has changed. For the financial assets reclassified out of
amortised cost measurement category, their carrying amount are restated at their respective fair value at the
reclassification date; any differences are recogmised in profit or loss (for those reclassified mto FVTPL
measurement category) or other comprehensive meome (for those reclassified into FVTOCI measurement
category). For the financial assets reclassified out of FVIPL measurement category imto FWTOCI
measurement category or vice versa, they are continmed to be measured at fair value; cummlative gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive meome, if any, is reclassified to profit or loss as
reclassification adjustment. For the financial assets reclassified out of FVTPL measurement category into
amortised cost measurement category, their fair value at the reclassification date becomes their new gross
carrying amount. For financial assets reclassified from FVTOCT measurement category into amortised cost
measurement category, therr camying amount will be adjusted as if they had always been measured at
amortised cost; the adjusted amount will be recogmised i cumulative gain or loss of the financial assets
previcusly recogmised in other comprehensive mcome. After reclassification, the reclassified financial
assets will be measured m accordance with the accounting policies of the new categomies.
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Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

1.5, Financial instruments (cont'd)
Derecognition of financial assets
When the contractual rights to the cash flows from financial assets expire or substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of financial assets are fransferred, the financial assets will be derecogmsed. The
nights and obligations created or retained m the transfer are recogmised separately as assets or liabilities.
However, if substantially all the nisks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are retained
the financial assets will not be derscogmised In this simation the tramsferred financial assets will be
recogmised in their enfitety and the comsiderations received, if amy, will be recogmised as financial
liabilities. In subsequent periods, income on the transferred financial assets and expense incurred on the
recogmised financial liabilities will be recognised m profit or loss separately. In the case substantially all the
nisks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are neither transferred nor retained, the
transferred financial assets will be recognised to the extent of the Company's continuous invelvement if the
Company retains control over the financial assets; otherwise, the financial assets will be derecognised and
the nights and obligaticns created or retaimed in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities.
The difference of the camying amount of the transferred assets which are qualified for derecogmition and
the sum of consideration received (including amy new asset obtamed less any new liability assumed) 1s
recogmized in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

When the obligation of financial liabilities specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires,
the financial liabilities are regarded as extinguished and are removed from the statement of financial
position. An exchange of liabilities or substantial modification of the terms of existing financial liabilities
are alse accounted for as an extingwishment of the onginal financial liabilities. Gain or loss on
derecognition of financial lizbilities is recognised m profit or loss.

2.6. Employee benefits
Salaries, anmal bommses and other staff costs are accrued m the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Company. Where payment or settlement 13 deferred and the effect would be
matenial, provisions are made for the estimated hiability as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the end of reporting period.

The Company joined a Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF") scheme for its employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF scheme are held separately from those of the Company i independently administered
funds. Under the rules of the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each requred to make
contributicns to the scheme at rate specified i the mles. Contributions to the defined contribution pension
scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

_15-

148/207



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.7. Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of
mcome and expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are mever taxable or
deductible. The Company's liability for current tax 13 caleunlated nsmg tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of reporting peniod.

Deferred tax i1s recogmsed on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the comesponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilifies are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recogmised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recogmised if the temporary difference anses from the mitial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and lLiabilities in a transaction that affiects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference anses from mitial recognition of goodwill.

The camying ameunt of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting peried and reduced to
the extent that it 1s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recowverad.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is seftled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of reporting peniod.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and habilities.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred tax assets and hiabilities are
measured using the average rates that are expected to apply to the taxable profit or tax loss of the periods m
which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

2.8. Foreign currencies translations
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Ttems included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
envirenment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). This financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong Dollars ("HE$"), which iz the Company's functional and presentation
currency.
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Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.8. Foreign currencies translations (cont'd)
(b) Tramsactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the fimectional cwrency wsing the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the

seftlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and hiabilities denommated in foreign cumrencies are recogmsed m profit or loss.

2.9. Related parties
(a) A persom, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Company if that person:

(i} has control or joint contrel over the Company;

(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(1) 13 a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company's parent.
(b) An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i} The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subzidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i1) Ome entity is an associate or jont venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other enfify 1= 2 member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity 1s a jomt venture of a third entity and the other enfity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company
or an entity related to the Company.

{(vi) The entity iz controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified m (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has sigmficant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to inflnence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.10. Revenue recognition

PRevenue from contracts with customers is recognised by reference to each distinet performance obligation
in the contract with the customer. Revenue from comfracts with customers is measured at the transaction
price, bemng the amount of consideration which the Company expects to be enfitled to in exchange for
transferming the promised goods or services to the customer, net of taxes. The transaction price is allocated
to each performance obligation of each distinet good or service promised in the confract. The basis of
allocation is that allowed by HEFRS 13. Depending on the substance of the contract, revenne is recognised
when the performance obligation 13 satisfied, which may be at a point in time or over time.

Income from financial services is recogmsed over time as services rendered.

Interest income 15 recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial mstrument or
a shorter perted, when appropriate, to the net camying amount of the financial asset.

2.11. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, 1t is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obhigation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the cbligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, inchiding those ansing from the contractual obligation specified m
the service concession arrangement to maintain or restore the infrastructure before it 1s handed over to the
grantor, 15 the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
reporting period, taking inte account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its camrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is matenial).

When some or all of the economic benefits reguired to settle a provision are expected to be recoverad from
a third party, a receivable is recogmised as an asset if it is virmally certain that reimbursement will be
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.12. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and shert term, highly liquid investment that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an mtegral part
of the Company's cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the statement of cash flows.

_18.

151/207



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cape Asset Management Limited

HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.13. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occumrence or non-occurrence of cne of more uncertain future events not wholly within
the comtrol of the Company. It can also be a present obligation ansing from past events that i1s not
recogmised because it 1s not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured rehiably. When a change in the probability of an outflow oceurs so that
cutflow iz probable, they will then be recogmised as a provision.

A contingent asset 15 a possible asset that anses from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the cccummence or non-occourrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the contrel of the Company. When mflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

2.14. Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at transaction price and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective imterest method, less hifetime expected credit losses.

2.15. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are measured at initial recognition at the fair value (including transaction costs)
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.16. Leases

As a lessee (applicable from 1 January 2019)

Except for the recogmition exemption, if applicable, night-of-use assets and lease liabihities are recogmised
for all contracts that are, or contain, leases of identified assets at the commencement date of leases. Right-
of-use assets are imifially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accunmlated depreciation
and impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease habilities. Lease liabilities are
initially measured at the present value of unpaid lease payments using interest rate implicit to the lease or,
if undeterminable, lessee's incremental borrowing rates and subsequently adjusted with interest on and the
settlement of the lease liabilities, and the re-measurement arising from any reassessment of the lease
liabilities or lease modifications.

The Company has elected to recopnise lease payments for all leases with a term of twelve months or less;
or the underlying assets of which are of low value, as expenses on a siraight-line method.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write off the depreciable amount of each night-
of-use asset to profit or loss unless 1t is included i the carmying amount of another asset. If the ownership
of the 1dentified asset will be transferred to the Company by the end of the lease term or the Company will
exercise a purchase option, depreciation shall be allocated ower the estimated useful life of the night-of-use
assets; otherwise, depreciation shall be allocated over the shorter of lease term or the estimated useful life
of the nght-of-use assets.
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HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.16. Leases (cont'd)
As a lessee (applicable before 1 January 2019)
Leases where substantially all the rewards and nsks of cwnership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Company is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives recerved from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

3. Revenne and other income

The prmeipal activities of the Company are the provision of investment advisory and financial services.
PBevenue and other income recogmised during the year are as follows:

2019 2018
HES HKS
Revenue
Inwestment advisory 7456 2,858
Fund manager fee 6,365,531 5,491,630
6,372 087 5494 488
Other income
Interest income 138,112 132,627
6,511,009 5,627,115
4.  Other net loss
2019 2018
HES HEKS
Net exchange lozs (781,86%) (2.359.385)
Change in unrealized gain on structured deposits 376,231 234 957

(403,637) (1,504.628)

Z20 -
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HAREEEFRAT

Notes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2019

5. Loss before tax

2019 2018
HKS$ HKS
Loss before tax is stated after charging:
Operating lease rentals
- Land and buildings - 1,440,000
Lease expenses
- Short-term leases 1,440,000 -
Staff costs (exclnding directors’ rermmeration {note &))
- Salaries, allowances and benefitz m kind 4,011,509 4,307 439
- Retirement benefit scheme contnbutions 59,445 54,808
Auditor's renmmeration 140,400 114,600

6. Directors' remuneration

Details of directors’ remumeration disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Compamies
Ordmance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
are as follows:

2019 2018
HES HKS
Fees - -
Other emoluments
- Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,376,589 1,376,685
- Retirement benefit scheme contnbutions 36,000 36,000
1,412 589 1,412,685
7.  Taxatiom

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been made as the Company sustained a taxation loss during
the year (2018: Nil).

No provision for deferred tax has been made. Details of the unrecogmsed deferred tax are set out in note 8
to the financial statements.
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For the vear ended 31 December 2019

7. Taxation (cont'd)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting loss at applicable tax rates

2019 2018

HKS HKS
Loss before tax (3,260,521) (6,393,144)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) (337,986) (1,054 269)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 79,169 -
Tax effect of non-taxable mcome (22, 788) (193.662)
Effect on deferred tax not recognised 481,603 1,250,331

Tax expenses - -

8. Deferred tax assets unrecognised

No deferred tax assets has been recogmsed due to the wnpredictability of firture profit streams. Deferred tax
assets which have not been recopnised in the financial statements are as follows:

2019 2018
HKS HKS$
Deductible temporary differences 1,946 2433
Tax loss 2,862,931 2,380,839
2,864,877 2383272
9. Dividends

Dividends payable to equty shareholders of the Company attnbutable to the period:
2019 2018
HKS$ HKS$

Interim dividend declared and paid

US$Nil per ordinary share (2012: US360) - 46,937,739

17
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For the vear ended 31 December 2019

10. Account and other receivables

2019 2018
HKS HKS
Due from a fellow subsidiary 378 172
Accounts receivable 611,432 352,784
Orther debtors, prepayments and deposits paid 346452 312316
1,158 4562 265272

Current portion classified as account and other receivables {1,158 462) (485 272)
Non-current portion classified as rental deposits - 380,000

Rental depozits to a fellow subsidiary amounting to HE$380.000 (2018: HES$320,000) are included in other
debtors, prepayments and deposits paid.

The Company allows a credit period of 30 (2018: 30) days m respect of the accounts receivable ansing
from the business of provision of investment advisory and finaneial services.

The amcunt due from a fellow subsidiary is unsecured, imterest-free and recoverable on demand and i
general 1t is expected to be recovered within 30 days.

The Company's credit pelicy is set out in note 17(b).

The aging analysis of accounts receivable arising from mvestment advisory and financial services at the end
of reporting period, based on the date of invoice was as follows:

2019 2018
HES HEKS
Neither past due nor impaired 611,432 352,784

Eeceivables that were neither past dne nor impaired related to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of defanlt.
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11.

12.

13

Structured deposits
2019 2018
HES HES
Structured deposits, at fair value 33,700,594 34,459 301

The structured deposits are placed with a bank in Hong Kong, the retums of which are determmed by
reference to the change m certain exchange rates guoted in the market. The prnncipal amount of the
stroctured deposits 15 EMB30,000,000 (2018: FME30.000,000) as at 31 December 2019 which was with
maturity date in Angust 2020. The structured deposits are designated as finaneial assets at FVTPL on mitial
recogmition. At 31 December 2019, the structured deposits were stated at fair values.

Account and other payables
2019 2018
HEKS HKS
Dne to a fellow subsidiary - 32012
Accounts payable 46,972 40,906
Accmals 123,000 103,600
169,972 199 424

All the accounts payable are expectad to be settled within 30 days.

The amount doe to a fellow subsidiary was unsecured, mterest-free and repayable on demand.

Share capital
2019 2018
HEKS HKS
Issued and fully paid
Ordinary share
100,002 (2018: 100,002) shares at the beginning of the year
and at the end of the year 3,773,600 3,773,600

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets.
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14. Capital management

The primary cbjectives of the Company's capital management are to safeguard the Company's ability to
contimue as a going concern and to maimtain healthy capital ratios in order to suppert its business and
maximise the shareholders’ value.

The Company manages its capital strocture and makes adjustments to it m hight of changes m economic
conditions. To maimtain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amounts of dividend
paid to the shareholders, retum on capital to the shareholders or issme of new shares or repurchase of
existing shares as well as issue of new debts or redemption of existing debts.

The Company are licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission ("5FC") and cbliged to meet the
regulatory liquid capital requirements under the Secumities and Fufures (Financial Resources) Fules
("FER") at all ttmes. The Company ensures it maintains a liquid capital level adequate to support the level
of activities with sufficient buffer to accommodate for inereases in higuidity requirements arising from
potential increases in the level of business activities. During the financial year, the Company has complied
with the liguid eapital requirements under the FER at all times.

15. Commitments under operating leases

As at 31 December 2018, the Company's total firtore miminmmm lease charges payable under non-cancellable

operating leases were as follows:
2018
HKS
Land and buildings
- Not later than one year 2,280,000
- Later than one year and not later than five years 320,000

2,660,000
16. Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Company
entered into the following material related party transactions:

2019 2018

HKS HKS
Fund management fee received (note (a)) 6,363,331 3491 630
Investment advisory fee from a fellow subsidiary (note (b)) 7456 2,858
Administrative agency fze to a fellow subsidiary (note (c)) 70,342 823 744
Pental expense paid to a fellow subsidiary (note (d)) 2,280,000 2,560,000
Rental deposits to a fellow subsidiary 380,000 380,000

_25.
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16.

17.

Related party transactions (cont'd)

Note
(a) The management fee was received from a fund managed by the Company. The management fee is
calculated based on net asset value of the fund

() The Company enterad into an investment advisory agreement with a fellow subsidiary, the Seven
Asset Management (Asia) Linmted ("SAMAL"). Pursuant to the agreement, the Company was
appointed to provide investment advisory service to finds managed by SAMAL. The Company is
entitled to investment advisory fee from SAMAT.

i) The Company entered info an administrative agency agreement with a fellow subsidiary, The
Seven Macao Commercial Offshore Limited ("Seven Macac™). Pursuant to the agreement, Seven
Macao was appointed as the administrative agent of the Cape China Fund and 15 entitled to a
service fee of 0.15% (2018: 0.15%) per annum of the net asset value of the funds.

(d) The Company entersd mto rental agreements with a fellow subsidiary, Lucky Plus Investment
Limated ("LPIL"). Pursuant to the agreements, the Company leased office premises and guarters
owned by LPIL at market rentals totaling HE$190,000 (2018: HE$218,000) per month.

Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a vanety of financial risks: market nisk (including foreign currency
nisk and cash flow and fair value interest rate nisk), credit risk, and liquidity nsk. These risks are nutigated
by the Company's financial management policies and practices desenbed below:

(a) Market nisk

The Company is exposed to foreign cumrency risk through certain revenues and expenses that
are seftled in Umited States dollar (USD), Japanese Yen (JPY) and Rennunbi (RME). As USD
iz pegged to Hong Kong dollar (HED), the Company does not expect any significant
movements in the USD/HED exchange rate. The Company is mainly exposed to foreign
exchange nisk ansing from fiture transactions that are denommated m JPY and EMB. The
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Company has no sigmficant exposure to foreign corrency risk as substantially of all of
the Company transactions that are denominated in JPY.

_26 -
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17. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(@)

(®)

Market risk (cont'd)

{1) Foreign curmrency nisk (cont'd)
As at 31 December 2019, if RMB has strengthened‘weakened by 2% (2018: 3%) agamst
HED with all other vaniables held constant, loss for the year would have been approximately
HES204.000 (2018: HES2,195,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gam/{loss) on translation of foreign currencies of assets and liabilities. The 2% (2018: 3%)
represents management's assessment of the likely maximum change i EME exchange rate
over the period until the end of next reporting period.

(11) Cash flow and fair value interast rate nisk
The Company 15 exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on mterest
bearing assets. The Company's policy 15 to obtain the most favourable interest rates available
for its deposits.

Az at 31 December 2019, the loss after tax of the Company would have been
decreased/increased by approximately HE$10,000 (2018: HES2 000) if the market interest
rate had been increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other variables held constant.
The 30 basis points mcrease/decrease represents management's assessment of the likely
maximum change in interest rates over the period until the end of next reporting period. The
analysis does not take into account exposure to fair value interest rate risk ansing from fixed
rate instruments as the Company does not hold any fixed rate instruments which are measured
at fair value in the financial statements. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018

Credit nsk
The Company's principal financial assets 1s bank deposits and cash, structured deposits, account
and other receivables.

The credit risks on bank deposits and stuctured deposits placed in banks are limited because the
banks are anthonised financial mstitutions with high credit rating.

The credit risk on amount due from a fellow subsidiary is managed by assessing the financial
positions of the fellow subsidiary on a regular basis.

Fental deposits are placed with a landlord and are due to refimd upon the expiry of the tenancy

agreements and handover the leased premises. The Company has not experience significant
defanlt by the landlord.

_27.
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17. Financial risk management (cont'd)

)] Credit risk (cont'd)
The Company's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individunal characteristics of
each customer. At the end of reporting peried, the Company has a concentration of credit nisk as
T9% (2018: 45%:) of total account and other receivables which was due from funds managed by

the Company and a fellow subsidiary.

Other than concentration of credit risks on amounts due from funds managed by the Company and
fellow subsidiary, and liquid funds and structured deposits which are deposited with banks with
high credit rating, the Company does not have any other significant concentration of credit nsk.

(c) Liqudity nisk
The Company regularly monitors cwrent and expected Ligmidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient cash to meet its liquidity requirements m the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based
on the contracted undiscounted payment, was as follows:

Total
contractnal More than 1 More than 2
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 yvear  vear but less  vyears but less
amount cash flow  or on demand than 2 vears than 5 years
HEKS HES HES HEKS HES
2019
Account
and other
payables 169,972 160972 169,972 - -
2018
Account
and other
payables 199 424 199 424 199,424 - -

_0% .
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17. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(d) Far value of financial instruments
Financial instruments measured at fair value
HEFES 13, Fair value measurement categorises fair value measurements into a three-level
hierarchy. The level mnte which fair value is classified 1s deternuned with reference to the
observability and significance of the mputs used m the valuation techmique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs ie. unadjusted gquoted
Pprices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs 1.e. observable inputs which fail
to meet Level 1, and not using sigmficant unobservable inputs. Uncbservable mputs are
mputs for which market data are not available.

- Lewvel 3 valuations: Fair valne measured using sipnificant imobservable inputs.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company held the following financial assets measured at famr vale:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HES HKS HES HES
Fimnancial assets
at fair value
through profit or loss
- Structured deposits - 33,700,504 - 33,700.594

As at 31 December 2018, the Company held the following financial assets measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HES HEKS HES HEKS
Financial assets
at fair value
through profit or loss
- Structured deposits - 34,459 391 - 34,459 391

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, there were no transfers of instruments
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.

_79 .
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18. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are contimually evalvated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, inchoding expectations of fiture events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resolting accounting estimates
will, by defimtion, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
sigmificant nisk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and habiliies within the
next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated of impairment of receivables
The Company tests annually whether account and other receivables have suffered any mmpairment
in accordance with the accounting pelicy stated in notes to the financial statements and make

provisions for impairment accordingly.
)] Fair value estimates
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and based on relevant market information
and mformation about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in natore and
involve mncertainties and matters of sigmificant judgement and therefore cannot be determined
with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.
19. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation.

Z30-
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Report of Independent Auditors

Trustee
Cape China Fund

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Cape China Fund (the “Trust"), which comprise the
statements of assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of operations, changes
in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statementsin conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles; thisincludes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statementsthat are free of material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility isto express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our auditsin
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financia statements are free of material

mi sstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considersinternal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Cape China Fund at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations, changes in its net assets and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Ernst & Young, Ltd.

March 27, 2020
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of
Cape Asset Management Limited

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Cape Asset Management Limited ("the Company™) set out on pages 7 to 30,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the financia statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financia Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") and with reference to Practice
Note 820 (Revised), The Audit of Licensed Corporations and Associated Entities of Intermediaries issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
directors report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appearsto be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with governance for thefinancial statements
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The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in accordance
with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for ng the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
0.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAswill always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are required to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company'sinterna control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and
Audit) Rules.

FTW & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 April 2020

HO Cheung Kong

Practising Certificate Number: P5214
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